## No. 91621-7

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## DOUGLAS M. DEWAR,

Respondent,

v.

KENNETH SMITH and JANE DOE SMITH, husband and wife, and their marital community property composed thereof; TRANER SMITH & CO. PLLC, a Washington professional limited liability company,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Sam B. Franklin, WSBA No. 1903 Timothy D. Shea, WSBA No. 39631 Attorneys for Petitioner

PR 20

PH

LEE SMART, P.S., INC. 1800 One Convention Place 701 Pike Street Seattle, WA 98101-3929 (206) 624-7990

Of Counsel: Richard A. Simpson Gary P. Seligman WILEY REIN LLP 1776 K Street, NW Washington, DC 20006 (202) 719-7000

## **

#### **IDENTITY OF PETITIONER**

Defendants/Appellants, Kenneth and Jane Doe Smith and Traner Smith & Co., PLLC, respectfully submit this petition for review.

#### **CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

This petition seeks review of the Court of Appeals's decision filed January 26, 2015, *Dewar v. Smith*, 342 P.3d 328 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015); App. 1-15. On March 20, 2015, the Court of Appeals denied motions for reconsideration filed by both Petitioners and Respondent. App. 16.

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether federal law conflicts with, and thus preempts, the imposition of liability under state tort law upon a CPA for a statement that allegedly was misleading because it failed to disclose confidential tax return information that federal law precludes the CPA from directly or indirectly disclosing?

2. Whether, in a case of first of impression, the Court of Appeals erroneously imposed a duty of care upon a CPA to a non-client governing the CPA's communications concerning the client's federally protected confidential tax return information where the Court of Appeals: (a) grounded its analysis on the existence of an amorphous, generalized duty of all professionals to act in the public interest and thus misapplied the multi-factor test set out in *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994); and (b) reached a result directly contrary to *Stewart Title Guaranty Co. v. Sterling Savings Bank*, 178 Wn.2d 561, 311 P.3d 1 (2013), in which this Court rejected the imposition of a duty on the part of an attorney to a non-client under analogous circumstances.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of a dispute over a federal tax refund, allegedly assigned to pay a debt, but taken by the debtor to Thailand to avoid payment. By permitting the absconder's accountants to be held liable, the decision below puts a CPA's absolute obligations under federal law to maintain the confidentiality of client information in direct conflict with an expansively conceived state law duty to protect third parties and the public generally. The Court should accept review to bring needed clarity to Washington law and correct an erroneous extension of that law to require CPAs to violate their federal duties of confidentiality.

Plaintiff/Respondent Douglas Dewar ("Dewar") alleges that Defendants/Appellants/Petitioners Ken Smith and Traner Smith & Co., PLLC's (collectively "Traner Smith"), a CPA firm, assisted Brad Beddall ("Beddall") in diverting Beddall's 2009 federal income tax refund checks that Beddall had agreed to give to Dewar pursuant to a Property Settlement Agreement ("Agreement") between Dewar and Beddall. Under the Agreement, Beddall agreed to allow Dewar to review Beddall's return and receive the tax refund. Once the return was filed, Beddall changed the address to which the refund checks were to be delivered from his attorney's office to Traner Smith's office. Beddall later directed Traner Smith to provide the checks to his son-in-law. Beddall took the money to Thailand. Dewar seeks to hold Traner Smith responsible for its client's defalcation.

*Factual Background*. Dewar and Beddall were joint venturers for years on many real estate projects. CP 70-71. In 2006, Beddall and Dewar undertook a condominium-conversion project ("Project"). CP 72-73; CP 345-73. By mid-2009, the Project was losing large amounts of money, and Beddall told Dewar that he wanted out of the Project and all related contractual obligations owed to Dewar. CP 73-74. Dewar declined to release Beddall, and on December 23, 2009, he sued Beddall for breach of loan documents related to the Project. *Id.*; CP 285, ¶ 7.5.

Dewar, a CPA and the accountant for the Project, believed that Beddall was entitled to a large tax refund arising from the debts associated with the Project. CP 76 at 33-34; CP 283-87, ¶¶ 4, 7.5 & 10. The parties began discussing a settlement contemplating that Beddall would seek a tax refund to be used to fund the settlement. *Id.* In March 2010, the parties executed the Agreement, under which Beddall agreed to transfer title to the Project property to Dewar and to engage Traner Smith to prepare

Beddall's 2009 federal income tax return. CP 281-93, 431-71. Beddall agreed that his tax refund would be worth at least \$1,000,000. *Id.* Traner Smith had no involvement in the negotiations between Dewar and Beddall that culminated in the Agreement and is not a party to any agreement between Beddall and Dewar. CP 28, ¶ 2. The Agreement included a Special Power of Attorney and an IRS Form 2848, each of which purported to assign or transfer Beddall's rights related to the tax refund to his attorney, John Hatch ("Hatch"). CP 291-93.

In February 2010, while Dewar and Beddall continued to negotiate the Agreement, Beddall formally retained Traner Smith to prepare Beddall's 2009 federal income tax return. CP 27, ¶ 1; CP 515-20. Traner Smith agreed that it would prepare the relevant tax documents and not disclose Beddall's tax information to any third party for any purpose, other than to prepare the return, without Beddall's consent. *Id.* The engagements do not mention Dewar, the lawsuit, or the Agreement. *Id.* 

At the outset of Traner Smith's engagement, Beddall explicitly permitted Traner Smith to work with Dewar to prepare the return. CP 28-29, ¶ 3. Shortly after the return was filed, Beddall directed Traner Smith to cease discussing the return with Hatch. CP 33, ¶ 14; CP 60 at 26-27; CP 61 at 32:22-25; CP 62 at 33:1-21. Beddall directed that Traner Smith communicate with no one but him about the return. *Id.* Traner Smith did

not know why Beddall had revoked his authority to communicate with Hatch and Dewar, (CP 33,  $\P$  14), and it had no knowledge of the dealings among Hatch, Dewar, and Beddall. CP 431-71; CP 28,  $\P$  2.

As filed, the return provided for the refund checks to be sent to Hatch. CP 33, ¶ 15. In May 2010, Beddall asked Ken Smith ("Smith") of Traner Smith about the status of the refund. *Id.*; CP 59 at 24; CP 60 at 25. Smith replied that Beddall could reach an IRS agent through Traner Smith's practitioner hotline. *Id.* Other than dialing the IRS phone number and sitting through the conference, Smith did not participate at all in Beddall's call with the IRS. *Id.* During the call, Beddall asked the IRS agent to change the address on the return from Hatch's address to Traner Smith's address. *Id.* 

In June 2010, after the 2009 tax return had been filed, Dewar requested another copy of "the 2009 Form 1040 [Traner Smith] prepared for B[eddall]." CP 828; CP 35, ¶ 18; CP 34-35, ¶¶ 16-19. After receiving permission from Beddall, Traner Smith emailed Dewar "the filed tax returns . . . as requested for Brad Beddall." CP 831; CP 33-34, ¶¶ 14-15; CP 60 at 26-27; CP 61 at 32:19-23; CP 62 at 33:1-21. Smith did not have access to any copy of the return with the address change. *Id.* 

Beddall later instructed Traner Smith to deliver the refund checks to his son-in-law, and in July 2010 Traner Smith did so. CP 35-36,  $\P$  20.

On August 16, 2010, Beddall emailed Dewar and Hatch, advising that he had taken the refund money to Thailand. CP 36,  $\P$  21; CP 522. Beddall forwarded this email to Traner Smith. *Id.* This was the first time that Traner Smith learned that Beddall did not intend to provide or actually provide the tax refund to Dewar or Hatch. *Id.*; CP 63 at 39:10-13. After receiving the email, Traner Smith withdrew from Beddall's engagement. CP 36,  $\P$  21. Months later, Dewar commenced this action. CP 1153-77.

*Proceedings Below.* On November 8, 2012, the trial court granted Dewar's motion for partial summary judgment, holding that, pursuant to *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1081 (1994), Traner Smith owed a duty to disclose Beddall's confidential tax information to Dewar and that its failure to do so constituted negligent misrepresentation. CP 215-18; CP 766-78. The trial court also denied Traner Smith's motion for partial summary judgment to dismiss contract claims. CP 219-21. On March 20, 2013, the trial court granted Dewar's further motion for partial summary judgment, fixing the damages resulting from Traner Smith's alleged negligent misrepresentation. CP 15-18. During the pendency of Traner Smith's motions for discretionary review, Dewar voluntarily dismissed all of his claims, save for negligence, negligent misrepresentation, and breach of third-party beneficiary contract. CP 4-6.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court order determining

duty and negligent misrepresentation as a matter of law. Division One held that federal law preempted any state tort duty to disclose confidential tax information. 342 P.3d at 332-33. However, Division One further held that Traner Smith had "choices" when presented with Dewar's June 2010 request for Beddall's return. *Id.* In particular, Division One held that, as a matter of law, Traner Smith had a duty to provide Dewar with "inquiry notice" regarding the change of address, and that such notice could have been provided by performing a "noisy withdrawal" from Traner Smith's engagement with Beddall. *Id.* The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded, however, finding that Dewar had failed to establish that Traner Smith's breach proximately caused Dewar's damages. The parties each filed motions for reconsideration, which were denied on March 20, 2015.

#### ARGUMENT

Review is necessary because Division One's ruling forces Washington CPAs to choose between disclosing confidential tax return information and thereby committing a federal crime, or adhering to federal law and facing state tort liability. The ruling pits Washington common law against federal law and the Constitution of the United States. Moreover, because the duties that a CPA owes to third parties, and a CPA's duty to disclose tax information (if only indirectly) are matters of first impression in this state, there is a substantial public impact element to

disposition of this case. Review should be granted to resolve these issues.

## I. The "choices" identified by the Court of Appeals are irreconcilable with the requirements of federal law.

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that federal law prohibited Traner Smith from directly advising Dewar of Beddall's May 2010 instruction to the IRS to change the address for issuance of his refund checks or of Beddall's subsequent instruction to Traner Smith to give the checks to his son-in-law. 342 P.3d at 332. The Court of Appeals, however, then determined that "when Dewar requested a copy of Beddall's return [in June 2010], Smith had choices besides disclosing taxpayer information in violation of federal law or transmitting the misleading original return." Id. In the Court of Appeals's view, Traner Smith could have either "told Dewar that he couldn't share any further information because Beddall had revoked his consent to disclosure" or Traner Smith "could also have made a 'noisy withdrawal' of representation." *Id.* at 332-33. These purported "choices" are in reality not choices at all because they fail to comport with the expansive protection of tax information under federal law and Traner Smith's reciprocal broad obligations under the federal regime to safeguard the confidentiality of its client's information and honor its client's directives not to disclose that information. The Court of Appeals held, in effect, that

Traner Smith had a state law duty to find a way to disclose indirectly with a wink and a nod what would be a federal crime to disclose directly.

"The doctrine of preemption has its roots in the constitutional maxim that the laws of the United States are the supreme law of the land." *Pioneer First Fed. Savs. & Loan Ass'n v. Pioneer Nat'l Bank*, 98 Wn.2d 853, 856, 659 P.2d 481, 484 (1983). "There are three classes of preemption: express preemption, field preemption and conflict preemption." *Valle del Sol Inc. v. Whiting*, 732 F.3d 1006, 1022 (9th Cir. 2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted), *cert. denied*, 134 S. Ct. 1876 (2014). "Conflict preemption occurs where (1) it is impossible to comply with both state and federal law or (2) state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." *Satomi Owners Ass'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 800, 225 P.3d 213, 225 (2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted); *see also Ariz. v. United States*, 132 S. Ct. 2492, 2501 (2012) (same).

Here, the obligations imposed by federal law are unequivocal: without Beddall's consent, Traner Smith was prohibited from disclosing any information furnished to it in connection with the preparation of Beddall's return or using any such information for any purpose other than preparing the return. 26 U.S.C. § 7216(a); *see also id.* § 6713 (prescribing monetary penalties). The "taxpayer information" encompassed by these

prohibitions includes "any information, including, but not limited to, a taxpayer's name, *address*, or identifying number, which is *furnished in any form or manner* for, or in connection with, the preparation of a tax return of the taxpayer." Treas. Reg. § 301.7216-1(b)(3) (emphasis added).

Not only is the scope of information subject to strict confidentiality broadly defined, the means of unauthorized dissemination or use are defined in equally broad terms. "Disclosure" for purposes of federal law "means the act of making tax return information known to any person in any manner whatever." *Id.* § 301.7216-1(b)(5). Similarly, "use" of tax information "includes any circumstances in which a tax return preparer refers to, or relies upon, tax return information as the basis to take or permit an action." *Id.* § 301.7216-1(b)(4). In no event could Traner Smith "disclose" or "use" Beddall's tax return information—including the address communicated to the IRS by Beddall post-filing—without Beddall's express written consent, *id.* § 301.7216-3(a)(1), which Beddall had indisputably revoked as of May 2010. CP 33-34, ¶¶ 14-15; CP 60 at 26-27; CP 61 at 32:22-25; CP 62 at 33:1-21.

In light of the clarity and breadth of the federal strictures, the Court of Appeals's suggested alternatives to Traner Smith's literal compliance with Dewar's June 2010 request for Beddall's filed return are not really choices at all. Both a "noisy withdrawal" and notifying Dewar of

Beddall's revocation of his consent to share tax information with Dewar present a direct and positive conflict with the dictates of federal law.

The Court of Appeals cited no authority, other than Dewar's naked suggestion at oral argument, that a "noisy withdrawal" furnished a valid option under the relevant professional code. Unlike the rules governing lawyers in Washington, which explicitly recognize a lawyer's ability to give notice of his or her withdrawal to third parties and to "disaffirm or withdraw" any work product, *see* RPC 1.6 cmt. 25, the parallel rules governing a CPA's duty of confidentiality contain no such recognition.<sup>1</sup>

But even assuming the governing professional standards recognized the concept of a "noisy withdrawal," the Court of Appeals does not explain how Traner Smith could make any "noise" without disclosing or using Beddall's protected tax information. Disaffirmance of Beddall's return would either have occasioned a direct disclosure of the amended address as the basis for the disaffirmance or would have constituted an indirect disclosure or use of the same information. Indeed, the whole point of making "noise" under the Court of Appeals's rationale could only be to alert Dewar that there had been a change in Beddall's tax return so

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See WAC 4-30-050(3) (prohibiting CPAs' disclosure without consent of "any confidential communication or information pertaining to the client obtained in the course of performing professional services"); AICPA Code of Prof'l Conduct ET § 301 (prohibiting disclosure of "any confidential client information without the specific consent of the client").

that he could take action. On their face, the applicable federal definitions of "disclose" and "use" embrace indirect, as well as direct, dissemination of the protected tax information: "disclosure" includes "making tax return information known to any person *in any manner whatever*," and "use" means "*any circumstance*" in which Traner Smith "refers to, or *relies upon*, tax return information as the basis to take or permit an action." Given these standards, using the changed address on the return as the basis for a "noisy withdrawal" would have run afoul of federal law in the same manner as an express unauthorized disclosure.

As this Court has observed in a different context, "What cannot be done directly because of constitutional restriction cannot be accomplished indirectly by legislation which accomplishes the same result." *State ex rel. Troy v. Yelle*, 27 Wn.2d 99, 102, 176 P.2d 459, 461 (1947) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Constitutionally-based preemption principles dictate the same reasoning as the Court reconciles the requirements of federal statutory law and state tort law. The Court of Appeals's proffered approach not only makes it impossible for Traner Smith to comply with both federal requirements and state tort law, its conception of state tort duties also conflicts with the federal scheme because it renders state tort law "an obstacle to the accomplishment of the full purposes and objectives of Congress." *Satomi*, 167 Wn.2d at 800, 225

P.3d at 225. By criminalizing disclosure of confidential tax information, the Internal Revenue Code unmistakably evidences Congress's intent to ensure that the information clients provide to their tax preparers for purposes of their returns remains confidential. The fulsome expression of this congressional policy contained in the implementing regulations underscores the objective of protecting sensitive information, and in turn, facilitating taxpayers' compliance and payment. By compelling Washington CPAs to look for ways to evade the letter of federal law and obliquely communicate about protected information to third parties, the Court of Appeals's decision, at a minimum, undermines the means chosen by Congress to protect taxpayers and frustrates the congressional objective of encouraging Code compliance by all taxpayers.

The Court of Appeals's proffered "quieter" alternative to "noisy withdrawal" fares no better. Notifying Dewar that Beddall had revoked his prior consent to permit Traner Smith to share tax information with Dewar is similarly irreconcilable with federal requirements. Beddall's revocation of his prior consent itself constitutes "tax return information" as defined by federal regulation, because it qualifies as "*any* information ... furnished in *any form or manner* for, *or in connection with*, the preparation of a tax return." Treas. Reg. § 301.7216-1(b)(3) (emphasis added). Beddall's revocation is information that Beddall provided to

Traner Smith solely in the context and by virtue of the preparation of his federal return. *Id.* § 301.7216-1(b)(3)(D) (defining information supplied "in connection with" a tax return as information that "taxpayer would not have furnished ... but for the intention to engage, or the engagement of, the tax return preparer to prepare the tax return"). Putting Dewar on "inquiry notice" by advising him of Beddall's revoked consent both constitutes a "use" of confidential information (since Traner Smith would have "relie[d] upon" the revocation "as the basis to take ... an action," *id.* § 301.7216-1(b)(4)(i)) and the same type of indirect disclosure that cannot be countenanced to evade an express restriction.<sup>2</sup>

In short, the Court of Appeals's attempts to harmonize the incompatible demands of federal law and state tort law fall short. Given the conflict between the two, under the facts here, federal laws criminalizing breach of client confidentiality preempt application of state law negligence principles. The trial court's orders addressing Dewar's negligence-based claims should have been reversed in their entirety.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Nor do preemption principles support the "silent" option of Traner Smith simply withdrawing in June 2010 without any notice to Dewar or Hatch. Under Supreme Court jurisprudence, "an actor seeking to satisfy both his federal- and state-law obligations is not required to cease acting altogether in order to avoid liability. Indeed, if the option of ceasing to act defeated a claim of impossibility, impossibility pre-emption would be all but meaningless." *Mut. Pharm. v. Bartlett*, 133 S. Ct. 2466, 2477 (2013) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). The "purposes and objectives" strand of conflict preemption also applies. *Satomi*, 167 Wn.2d at 806, 225 P.3d at 228.

## II. The Court of Appeals's recognition of a duty owed to a nonclient misapplies the *Trask* factors and conflicts with *Stewart Title*.

The Court of Appeals's holding that Traner Smith owed Dewar any state law duty suffers from three fundamental defects, which if left uncorrected will undermine settled expectations about accountants' duties and sow confusion and disloyalty.

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