RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON May 22, 2015, 1:36 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

No. 91621-7

RECEIVED BY E-MAI

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DOUGLAS DEWAR,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

KENNETH SMITH and JANE DOE SMITH, husband and wife, and their marital community property composed thereof, TRANER SMITH & CO., PLLC, a Washington professional limited liability company

Defendants-Petitioners.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

I. Because Washington law does not conflict with federal law, review of the conflict-preemption issue is not warranted.

Without making clear why review is justified under RAP 13.4(b), Smith asks this Court to review the Court of Appeals' ruling on conflict preemption. That request should be denied for two reasons. First, conflict preemption asks simply whether federal law required the affirmative act of

² Dewar moved the Court of Appeals to admit a stipulation and agreed order between Smith and the State Board of Accountancy in which it was stipulated that Smith, in representing Beddall, had been under a conflict of interest. The Court of Appeals denied Dewar's motion. *Dewar*, 342 P.3d at 338.

misrepresentation that Smith committed. Because federal law did not require that act, conflict preemption does not apply. Second, even if conflict preemption required considering whether Smith could have taken affirmative acts other than the misrepresentation, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that Smith could have taken affirmative acts other than the misrepresentation and still abided by both state and federal law. Smith's argument to the contrary finds no support in federal law itself, in case law, or in the presumption against preemption.

A. Because federal law did not require Smith's act of misrepresentation, conflict preemption does not apply here.

A party claiming preemption bears the burden of showing that federal law preempts state law. *Silkwood v. Kerr-McGee Corp.*, 464 U.S. 238, 255 (1984). Smith invokes the doctrine of conflict preemption, which occurs (1) when it is impossible to comply with both federal and state law, or (2) when state law "stands as an obstacle" to accomplishing Congress's "full purposes and objectives." *Satomi Owners Ass 'n v. Satomi, LLC*, 167 Wn.2d 781, 800, 225 P.3d 213 (2009) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Neither strand of conflict preemption applies here.

It was not impossible for Smith to comply with both federal and state law. Smith committed negligent misrepresentation, and thus violated state law, by sending Beddall's filed tax return to Dewar----and yet Smith does not claim that compliance with federal law *required* him to send that tax return. Smith therefore could have complied with federal law, and avoided liability for negligent misrepresentation under state law, simply by *not* sending that tax return. *See PLIVA, Inc. v. Mensing*, 131 S. Ct. 2567, 2579 (2011) ("The question for 'impossibility' is whether the private party could independently do under federal law what state law requires of it.").

Smith asks whether federal law allowed him to take an affirmative act other than sending the tax return, *see* Pet. for Review ("Pet.") at 10–15, but that is the wrong question. Smith could have avoided his negligent misrepresentation simply by *not* taking the affirmative act of sending the filed tax return.³ And, because refraining from sending the tax return would have complied with federal law, "impossibility" preemption does not apply here.

Nor does state law stand as an obstacle to Congress's purpose of preserving the confidentiality of tax return information. Smith could have avoided liability for negligent misrepresentation by not sending Dewar the tax return. It is difficult to see how *refraining* from sending confidential tax return information to Dewar could have undermined Congress's interest in that information's confidentiality.

³ To avoid liability for negligent misrepresentation, Smith was not required to withdraw. *Cf.* Pet. at 14 n.2. He was simply required to refrain from sending Dewar the filed tax return.

Smith's argument for conflict preemption fails, in short, because federal law did not require him to send the tax return to Dewar. But Smith's argument is weaker still. For besides violating Washington's common law of negligent misrepresentation, sending the misleading tax return to Dewar also violated federal law. Under IRS regulations, all consents for a tax preparer to disclose tax return information must be in writing, and must satisfy certain formal requirements. 26 C.F.R. § 301.7216-3(a)(1), (a)(3)(i), (a)(3)(ii); Rev. Proc. 2008-35, 2008-29 I.R.B. 132, 133. Smith lacked the required form of consent when he disclosed the return to Dewar, see CP 1071, 1089-but he disclosed it nonetheless, fully aware that Dewar would rely on the tax return's misleading address. Smith could have complied with both state and federal law simply by refraining from sending the tax return—a choice that would have set Dewar in motion to protect his rights under the settlement agreement. Instead, Smith chose to violate both state and federal law. Smith's disclosure without the requisite consent shows that he did not care about federal or state law, and was simply trying to falsely reassure Dewar.4

⁴ While Smith violated the federal law governing tax preparers, nothing in federal law prevented Beddall, in the settlement agreement, from giving Dewar a contractually enforceable right to that information from Beddall himself. Smith was thus negligent in failing to secure Beddall's irrevocable consent to disclosure at the beginning of his engagement. *See infra* p. 13.

B. Even if conflict-preemption doctrine required considering whether Smith could have taken affirmative acts other than the misrepresentation, no conflict would arise.

Because Smith could have avoided liability for negligent misrepresentation by *not sending* the tax return, it is irrelevant whether federal law allowed Smith to take an affirmative act *other* than sending the tax return. But even if such considerations were relevant to the conflictpreemption inquiry, no conflict would arise. In arguing that it would have violated federal law for him to have taken an affirmative act *other* than sending the original tax return to Dewar, Smith strays from the language of the federal regulations, cites no conflicting authorities, and ignores the presumption against preemption. Smith had at least three affirmative options that avoided liability under state law and abided by federal law.

First, Smith could simply have told Dewar that he refused to give him the tax return, without saying why. This flat statement would have disclosed nothing at all about Beddall or the tax return. At the same time, this refusal would not have constituted a negligent misrepresentation.

Second, as the Court of Appeals correctly suggested, Smith could have withdrawn from representing Beddall and informed Dewar of that withdrawal. *Dewar*, 342 P.3d at 333. This communication would not have disclosed "tax return information," as that term is defined by the federal regulation. 26 C.F.R. § 301.7216-1(b)(3). The mere fact that Smith had

-11-

withdrawn from representing Beddall is not information "furnished . . . for, or in connection with, the preparation of a tax return," since the information would not be used in preparing a return—the return, after all, had already been prepared and filed. *Id.* Indeed, informing Dewar that he had withdrawn would only have disclosed information about Smith himself (i.e., *Smith's* decision to withdraw). It would have said nothing about Beddall, let alone anything about his tax return.

Smith, citing no cases that support his position, protests that telling Dewar that he had withdrawn would have alerted him "that there had been a change in Beddall's tax return." Pet. at 11. Telling Dewar about the withdrawal would have done no such thing. It may have suggested that Beddall was plotting some way of doing something underhanded, but it would not have disclosed what he was going to do or how he was going to do it—let alone disclosed the specific address change that Beddall had made. Under the federal regulations, disclosure means to "mak[e] . . . information known." 26 C.F.R. § 301.7216-1(b)(5). Learning of Smith's withdrawal would not have enabled Dewar to "know[]" anything more about Beddall's tax return than he had known before. *Id.* But it certainly would have avoided a negligent misrepresentation.

Third, Smith also had the option of telling Dewar that Beddall had revoked his purported consent to disclosure. Smith cites no authority that

-12-

has held that mere information about revocation counts as confidential "tax return information" under federal law. The examples of "tax return information" that the regulation gives are concrete information in the tax return itself: "a taxpayer's name, address, or identifying number." *Id.* § 301.7216-1(b)(3)(i). These examples are inconsistent with Smith's astonishingly broad reading of "tax return information."

Smith's broad reading is not only in tension with regulatory text it is also positively forbidden by the presumption against preemption. In all preemption cases, courts presume "that the historic police powers of the States" are not preempted. *Medtronic, Inc. v. Lohr*, 518 U.S. 470, 485 (1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, even when Congress intends for state law to be preempted, the scope of that preemption is narrowly construed. *See id.* Smith's unprecedentedly broad reading of the federal regulations ignores that rule of narrow construction.

One final point. Smith's argument for a conflict between state and federal law overlooks the part that his own negligence played in creating that supposed conflict. Under federal law, Smith could have secured Beddall's irrevocable written consent to disclosure—consent that would have been effective for one year. *See* 26 C.F.R. § 301.7216-3(b)(5). If Smith had secured that written consent at the beginning of the engagement, not even the *possibility* of conflict could have arisen.

-13-

II. Because the Court of Appeals created no new liability in holding that Smith owed a duty to Dewar, review of that holding is not warranted.

For decades, Washington courts have recognized that CPAs can owe a duty of care to non-clients. The Court of Appeals broke no new ground merely by holding that statutes, rules, and *Trask v. Butler*, 123 Wn.2d 835, 872 P.2d 1080 (1994), provide further support for a duty. Review of that holding is not warranted.

A. Washington courts—including this Court—have already recognized that CPAs can owe a duty of care to non-clients.

For almost 30 years, Washington courts have recognized that CPAs can be liable to non-clients for breaching a duty of care. In *Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987), for example, bondholders sued the accounting firm Ernst & Whinney, among other professionals, for negligent misrepresentations in a public entity's financial statements. *Id.* at 118, 161. This Court, relying on the *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 552 (1977), recognized that accountants could be liable to the bondholders if they knew that the public entity planned to supply the financial statements to bondholders, who in turn would rely on it. *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 164. More recently, in *FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, 175 Wn. App. 840, 309 P.3d 555 (2013), *aff'd*, 180 Wn.2d 954, 331 P.3d 29 (2014), an investor alleged that it had invested in reliance on negligent misrepresentations made by Ernst & Young in its audits. The Court of Appeals allowed the claim to proceed because the investor had properly alleged that Ernst & Young knew that its audits would be used to solicit investors, and that investors would rely on them. *Id.* at 884–85. In both of these cases, Washington courts recognized that CPAs had duties to third parties.

The principle that CPAs have duties to third parties is so wellestablished, in fact, that in *ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick*, 135 Wn.2d 820, 959 P.2d 651 (1998), this Court proceeded to examine whether principles of comparative negligence applied to such a claim. Smith points out that in *ESCA* the Court did not explicitly address the circumstances in which CPAs can owe duties to third parties. Pet. at 16. That fact hurts Smith's argument for review, however, because *ESCA* did not *have* to explicitly address that issue; long before, it had already been established that CPAs can owe duties to third parties.

If anything, this case presents far more compelling facts to support a CPA's duty to third parties than did past cases. In *Haberman* and *FutureSelect*, the courts recognized that CPAs can owe a duty to a potentially sizeable group of bondholders and current investors. *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 164; *FutureSelect*, 175 Wn. App. at 884–85. Here, by contrast, the Court of Appeals recognized a duty to only one

-15-

person, Douglas Dewar, the counterparty to a contract with Smith's client, Beddall. This was a contract, moreover, of which Smith was aware—and he knew the contract was meant to benefit Dewar. Because the Court of Appeals' holding falls well within the bounds already explored by *Haberman* and *FutureSelect*, review of that holding is unnecessary.

B. Smith's criticisms of the Court of Appeals provide no basis for review.

Smith criticizes the Court of Appeals' reasoning on a number of grounds. Some of them distort what the Court of Appeals held. Others get the law wrong. None justify review.

Smith says that the Court of Appeals, in recognizing a duty of care, relied on "[d]iffuse notions of acting in the public interest." Pet. at 15. That is not at all what the Court of Appeals did. It certainly acknowledged that CPAs have an obligation to serve the public interest, but it relied on *specific* duties imposed on CPAs. It cited, for example, the duty— established by the CPA code of professional conduct—not to transmit materially false and misleading information. *Dewar*, 342 P.3d at 333. The court also cited the duty—imposed on CPAs by federal law—not to represent a client if "'[t]here is a significant risk that the representation . . . will be materially limited by the practitioner's responsibilities to . . . a third person." *Id.* (quoting 31 C.F.R. § 10.29(a)(2)). This duty explicitly recognizes that CPAs can have responsibilities to non-clients—

-16-

responsibilities that can create the kind of conflict of interest under which Smith labored here.

Smith also objects to the Court of Appeals' reliance on *Trask v. Butler*, a case on which that court partly based its recognition of a duty. Smith argues that the Court of Appeals misapplied *Trask*'s multifactor balancing test. First of all, even if the court *did* misapply that test, review would be unwarranted. Smith does not argue that *Trask*'s test *does not apply* to this case. He simply argues that the Court of Appeals misapplied that test. This Court, however, is not in the business of mere error correction. If an asserted misapplication of a legal standard warranted review, this Court would be obliged to grant almost every petition.

In any event, the Court of Appeals did not misapply *Trask*. Smith first says that the Court of Appeals misapplied the threshold question under *Trask*: "whether the plaintiff is an intended beneficiary of the transaction to which the advice pertained." *Trask*, 123 Wn.2d at 843. According to Smith, the relevant "transaction[s]" here are the engagement letters between Smith and Beddall, and not the tax return that Smith prepared for Dewar's benefit. Pet. at 17. In making this argument, it is Smith who misapplies *Trask*. When *Trask* spoke of the "transaction to which the advice pertain[s]," it was referring to the transaction involving the client and the third party. This is plain from the language *Trask* used: it

-17-

makes little sense to speak of a retainer agreement between a client and an attorney as a "transaction to which" the attorney's advice "pertains." The same thing is plain from *Trask*'s endorsement of an estate beneficiary's right to bring a claim "against an attorney . . . for errors in drafting a will." *Id.* at 843. In endorsing that right, *Trask* looked to the will—the transaction to which the advice pertained—rather than the contract between the attorney and the testator.

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